2003

# H. Delbert Welker v. Respondent : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**Issue 1:** Whether the District Court erred in concluding that an attorney disciplined pursuant to Utah's reciprocal discipline rule can receive a sanction no greater than that imposed in the jurisdiction in which the first sanction was imposed. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (Brief in Support of Discipline, R. 56-65; Transcript, R. 104 at 6)

**Issue 2:** Whether the District Court erred in imposing upon the respondent the sanction of suspension rather than the sanction of disbarment for his professional misconduct in California. The applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. See In re Babilis, 951 P.2d 207 (Utah 1997). The issue was preserved in the District Court by legal memorandum and the oral argument of counsel. (R. Brief in Support of Discipline, R. 56-65; Transcript, R. 104 at 37)



**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND  
REGULATIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE OF THE  
APPEAL OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL**

**Rule 22. Reciprocal discipline. Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability.**

(a) *Duty to notify OPC counsel of discipline.* Upon being publicly disciplined by another court, another jurisdiction, or a regulatory body having disciplinary jurisdiction, a lawyer admitted to practice in this state shall within thirty (30) days inform the OPC of the discipline. Upon notification from any source that a lawyer within the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court has been publicly disciplined by another court, another jurisdiction, or a regulatory body having disciplinary jurisdiction, OPC counsel shall obtain a certified copy of the disciplinary order.

(b) *Notice served upon lawyer.* Upon receipt of a certified copy of an order demonstrating that a lawyer admitted to practice in this state has been publicly disciplined by another court, another jurisdiction, of a regulatory body having disciplinary jurisdiction, OPC counsel shall forthwith issue a notice directed to the lawyer containing:

(b)(1) a copy of the order from the other court, jurisdiction or regulatory body; and

(b)(2) a notice giving the lawyer the right to inform OPC counsel, within thirty (30) days from service of the notice, of any claim by the lawyer predicated upon the grounds set forth in paragraph (d), that the imposition of the equivalent discipline in this state would be unwarranted, and stating the reasons for that claim.

(c) *Effect of stay of discipline in other jurisdiction.* In the event the discipline imposed in the other court, jurisdiction or regulatory body has been stayed, any reciprocal discipline imposed in this state shall be deferred until the stay expires.

(d) *Discipline to be imposed.* Upon the expiration of thirty (30) days from service of the notice pursuant to paragraph (b), the district court shall take such action as may be appropriate to cause the equivalent discipline to be imposed in this jurisdiction, unless it clearly appears upon the face of the record from which the discipline is predicated that:

(d)(1) the procedure was so lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard as to constitute a deprivation of due process;

(d)(2) the imposition of equivalent discipline would result in grave injustice; or

(d)(3) the misconduct warrants substantially different discipline in this state or is not misconduct in this jurisdiction.

If the district court determines that any of these elements exist, it shall enter such other order as it deems appropriate. The burden is on the respondent to demonstrate that the imposition of equivalent discipline is not appropriate.

(e) *Conclusiveness of adjudication in other jurisdictions.* Except as provided in paragraphs (c) and (d) above, a final adjudication of the other court, jurisdiction or regulatory body that a respondent has been guilty of misconduct shall establish conclusively the misconduct for purposes of a disciplinary proceeding in this state.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** This is an attorney discipline proceeding.

**Course of the Proceedings:** The Supreme Court of California imposed discipline against H. Delbert Welker on January 4, 2002, predicated upon a Stipulation re Facts, Conclusions of Law and Disposition and Order Approving Actual Suspension ("Stipulation") entered by Welker and the State Bar Court of the State Bar of California ("California State Bar Court"). (California Order, R. 6; Stipulation, R. 8-31) The OPC filed a Petition for Reciprocal Discipline in the Third Judicial District Court on September 16, 2002 seeking reciprocal discipline against Welker for the same misconduct. (Petition, R. 1-36)

**Disposition in the District Court:** On April 22, 2003, Utah's Third Judicial District Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and an Order of Reciprocal Discipline. (Findings and Conclusions, R. 88-94; Order, 95-97) This appeal ensued. (Notice of Appeal, R. 98-99)

### **Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review:**

The following facts, incorporated by reference into the District Court's findings (Findings and Conclusions, R. 89), are derived from the Stipulation re Facts, Conclusions of Law and Disposition and Order Approving Actual Suspension and the Attachment thereto. (Stipulation, R. 8-31; Stipulation Attachment, R. 14-21) Welker and counsel for the California State Bar signed

the Stipulation, and it was approved by a judge of the California State Bar Court, which recommended discipline to the Supreme Court of California. (Stipulation, R. 28)

**The Baugh Matter (Stipulation Attachment; R. 16-18)**

Gregory Baugh retained Welker on a contingency basis to represent Baugh in a third-party personal injury claim arising from a vehicle accident while Baugh was driving a truck for his employer. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14) Welker knew that Baugh had separate counsel, John W. Johanson, to represent him in a Workers' Compensation claim against his employer. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14)

Welker filed a complaint on Baugh's behalf but did not conduct discovery, nor did he arrange for Baugh to have a qualified medical examination. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14) Johanson had arranged for psychological and physical examinations of Baugh, but before these were performed, Welker allowed mediation to proceed. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14)

The workers' compensation carrier for Baugh's employer intervened in the action to recover from the defendant the benefits the carrier had paid Baugh. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14) During mediation, counsel for the workers' compensation carrier asked Welker to get Johanson's permission to enter into a global settlement by having Johanson execute a third-party compromise and release. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 14-15)

Welker, Johanson, the counsel for the workers' compensation carrier, and the defendant's counsel purportedly settled the case as part of a global

settlement of Baugh's claims arising from the accident. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 15) But Baugh refused the global settlement, despite Welker's repeated attempts to persuade him to accept. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 15)

Although Baugh had not accepted the settlement, Welker signed a request for dismissal of the case prepared by the defendant's counsel. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 15) Welker received a settlement draft from the defendant's counsel and repeatedly attempted to convince Baugh to sign the release and accept the draft. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 15)

The defendant's counsel filed requests for dismissal with prejudice, including dismissal of the complaint in intervention filed by the workers' compensation carrier. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) Neither Baugh nor Johanson had signed a release, but the dismissal was entered. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) As its share of the settlement, the workers' compensation carrier received the lien amount disputed by Baugh. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16)

Later, Welker sent Baugh an advance copy of a motion for attorney's fees and costs, and for permission to endorse the settlement draft. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) Baugh told Welker to withdraw the request for dismissal that Baugh had not authorized, to return the settlement draft, and to withdraw from the case. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16)

Instead, Welker filed the motion for attorney's fees and costs, and to be allowed to endorse the settlement drafts. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) In support of the motion, Welker declared under penalty of perjury that the

mediation session had resulted in a settlement. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) Baugh retained substitute counsel, and the court denied Welker's motion to permit him to endorse the drafts, but it also denied a motion from Baugh to vacate the dismissals. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16)

Welker eventually "endorsed, or caused to be endorsed, Baugh's name on the settlement drafted and deposited it into his trust account." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 16) He mailed Baugh a trust account check with a letter stating that it was Baugh's share of the settlement. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 17)

The court issued an order of contempt against Welker, ordering him to pay a fine and serve five days in jail; it also issued a bench warrant with a \$25,000 bond, stayed until the following September. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 17)

Baugh died in October 2000. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 17) The day Baugh died, the court ordered Welker to return "all monies . . . for the purported and disputed settlement in this matter . . . to the Insurance Carrier or Carriers who issued the instrument or instruments forthwith." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 17)

The Stipulation Attachment's conclusions of law concerning the Baugh matter were as follows:

By failing to conduct any formal discovery, arrange for a qualified medical examination of Baugh, and allowing mediation to proceed before the psychological and physical examinations arranged by his client's Workers' Compensation attorney had taken place, Respondent recklessly failed to perform legal services with competence in wil[l]ful violation of rule 3-110(A), Rules of Professional Conduct.

By signing the request for dismissal and allowing defense counsel to file it, Respondent corruptly and without authority

appeared as attorney for Baugh in willful violation of Business & Professions Code section 6104.

By filing a declaration under penalty of perjury with a court which misrepresented the basis for a motion as a client's repudiation of an authorized settlement, as opposed to the attorney entering into a purported settlement without authority to do so from his client, Respondent committed an act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption in willful violation of Business & Professions Code section 6106.

By stating in his declaration to the court, made under penalty of perjury, that a settlement had been achieved through mediation, Respondent sought to mislead the judge by making false statements of fact and law because no settlement in fact occurred because settlement requires some form of client consent thereto. Respondent willfully violated Business & Professions Code section 6068(d).

(Stipulation Attachment, R. 17)

**The Fox Matter (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18-19)**

Wayne Fox retained Welker on a contingency basis to represent him in a personal injury claim. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) Welker signed an acknowledgment of lien by one of Fox's medical service providers. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) Beginning in April 1997, the provider regularly requested payment from Welker. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18)

That August, Welker settled Fox's claim and received a \$25,000 insurance draft payable to Welker and Fox. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) Welker deposited it in his trust account. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) Fox approved disbursement, allocating portions for attorney's fees and for medical service providers with the remainder going to himself. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) In September 1997, the balance of Welker's trust account dropped below what Welker owed Fox's medical service providers. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18) By late January 1998, the balance was negative. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18)

Welker did not pay the medical service provider until April 27, 2000 – more than one year after Fox had filed a California Bar complaint against Welker, and after Welker had been contacted by the California State Bar. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 18)

The Stipulation Attachment's conclusions as to the Fox matter were as follows:

By not paying Fox's funds held in the client trust account to the medical service providers as requested by Fox, Respondent failed to pay client funds as requested by his client in wil[ ]ful violation of rule 4-100(B)(4).

By not maintaining at least \$5,738.00 received on behalf of Fox in the client trust account until payment to the medical service providers, Respondent failed to maintain client funds in trust in wil[ ]ful violation of rule 4-100(A).

By misappropriating at least \$5,738.00 of Fox's funds, respondent committed an act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption in wil[ ]ful violation of Business & Professions Code section 6106.

(Stipulation Attachment, R. 19)

### **The Commingling Matter (Stipulation Attachment, R. 19)**

Between February and October 1997, Welker wrote numerous trust account checks for things that were not client-related; he "routinely" issued such checks "to family members, clothing and other stores, restaurants, utilities, and travel agencies." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 19) The Stipulation Attachment concluded that "By writing personal checks on his client trust account,

---

<sup>1</sup> The Stipulation Attachment further concluded that "Respondent with gross negligence misappropriated Fox's funds in wil[ ]ful violation of rule 4-100(B)(4)." (Stipulation Attachment; R. 19) The California State Bar Court's Modifications to Stipulated Facts, Conclusions of Law and Discipline deleted this provision. (R. 29)

Respondent commingled funds in wil[l]ful violation of rule 4-100(A)." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 19)

**The Matter of Discipline Imposed By Another Jurisdiction (Stipulation Attachment, R. 19)**

Welker was suspended from the practice of law in Utah on January 29, 2001.<sup>2</sup> (Stipulation Attachment, R. 19) The Stipulation Attachment concluded that "the professional misconduct of which Respondent was found culpable in Utah warrants discipline in the State of California." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20)

**The Matter of Welker's Failure to Report Imposition of Discipline By Another Jurisdiction (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20)**

Welker failed to report to the California State Bar that he had been disciplined in Utah; the California State Bar discovered this information by contacting the Utah State Bar. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20) The Stipulation Attachment concluded that "By failing to report to the State Bar in writing within 30 days of the time he had knowledge of the imposition of discipline against him [by] the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and the Utah State Bar, Respondent wil[l]fully violated Business and Professions Code section 6068(o)(6)." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20)

**Aggravating Circumstances**

The Stipulation identified several aggravating circumstances. These were: trust violations, significant harm to the public or the administration of justice, and

---

<sup>2</sup> The Third Judicial District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of Suspension in this prior matter are at R. 22-27, attached to the Stipulation. The suspension was for thirty days.



multiple acts of misconduct.<sup>3</sup> (Stipulation, R. 9) The Stipulation Attachment identified the "Facts Supporting Aggravating Circumstances." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20-21)

The facts supporting the aggravating circumstance of "Trust Violations" were Welker's misappropriation of Fox's settlement proceeds, which were subject to a lien, and "the repeated and routine payment of personal expenses from a client trust account." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20) Likewise, Welker's failure to maintain a client trust account in Utah was a trust violation. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20)

The facts supporting the aggravating circumstance of multiple acts of misconduct were multiple trust account violations in California and Utah. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20)

The facts supporting the aggravating circumstance of "harm," were Welker's acceptance without client authorization of a settlement that was not acceptable to the client, with the delays in setting aside the dismissal being such that the client died without knowing his case had been reactivated. (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20) Because of this, "it is reasonable to assume that the value of the cause of action has been diminished, to the detriment of his widow." (Stipulation Attachment, R. 20-21)

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the Stipulation also identified "pattern of misconduct" as an aggravating circumstance, the State Bar Court's Modifications to Stipulated Facts, Conclusions of Law and Disposition state that "while there is clear and convincing evidence of multiple acts of misconduct, the facts do not support a pattern of misconduct." (R. 29)

## **Mitigating Circumstances**

The Stipulation identified a single mitigating factor: Welker had no prior record of discipline. (Stipulation, R. 10)

## **The Discipline Imposed on Welker By the Supreme Court of California**

The Supreme Court of California, sitting en banc, disciplined Welker on January 4, 2002, by suspending him from the practice of law for three years. (California Order, R. 6) The suspension was stayed and Welker placed on probation for four years on condition that he be actually suspended for eighteen months. (California Order, R. 6)

## **The Reciprocal Discipline Proceedings in Utah**

Based upon Welker's discipline in California, the OPC filed a Petition for Reciprocal Discipline in September 2002. (Petition, R. 1-36) The District Court heard the matter on March 14, 2002. (Findings and Conclusions, R. 88)

The District Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law incorporated by reference the findings and conclusions from the Stipulation. (Findings and Conclusions, R. 89) The relevant portions are set forth verbatim here:

Baugh[:] Welker failed to conduct formal discovery or arrange for a qualified medical exam in person injury/workers' compensation litigation, and allowed mediation to proceed before medical information was available. Welker signed a request for dismissal and allowed defense counsel to file it without authority. Welker misrepresented the client's authorization to settle a claim in a sworn declaration filed with a court. Welker sought to mislead the court as to the client's authorizing a settlement.

Fox[:] Welker failed to pay medical service provider liens as directed by his client, the funds for which having been deposited in his client trust account for this purpose. Welker's client trust account was overdrawn as to the amount to be paid the medical service providers. Welker misappropriated the client's funds.

Trust Account[:] Welker wrote checks out of his client trust account for items not client related including personal and family expenses.

Reciprocal discipline[:] A January 29, 2001 order of the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah suspended Welker from the practice of law in the state of Utah, for conduct warranting discipline in the state of California. Welker did not report this discipline to the State Bar of California.

(Findings and Conclusions, R. 90)

The District Court correctly concluded that the order of the California Supreme Court "is a final adjudication that Welker is guilty of professional misconduct and conclusively establishes the misconduct for purposes of this proceeding." (Findings and Conclusions, R. 92) The court also correctly concluded that it must impose "discipline equivalent to that imposed in California unless one of three exceptions stated in Rule 22(d)(1), (2), or (3) clearly appear upon the face of the record of the California Proceedings." (Findings and Conclusions, R. 92-93)

The District Court also concluded that "[a] finding that an exception to equivalent discipline provided in Rule 22(d)(1), (2) or (3) is appropriate can by the terms of the exception benefit only the Respondent." (Findings and Conclusions, R. 93) The OPC contends that this conclusion is in error.

Finally, the District Court concluded that equivalent discipline would be appropriate, and credited Welker with six of the eighteen months of actual suspension imposed in California. (Findings and Conclusions; R. 93) The Order of Reciprocal Discipline suspended Welker for one year. (Order of Reciprocal Discipline, R. 95-96) The OPC contends that this, too, is error.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The District Court incorrectly concluded that in reciprocal discipline proceedings, any departure from discipline equivalent to that which was imposed by the original disciplining jurisdiction can only be less harsh. The District Court's interpretation goes against the plain language of the reciprocal discipline rule and eviscerates the OPC's role in reciprocal discipline cases. Moreover, it permits inconsistent results for similar misconduct, thereby impeding the objective of substantial justice and fairness in disciplinary matters. Welker's misconduct warrants disbarment in Utah, and fairness requires that this be imposed rather than the year-long suspension ordered by the District Court.

## ARUGMENT

**I. The District Court Incorrectly Concluded That the Degree of Reciprocal Discipline Imposed in Utah Can Only Be the Same or Less Than the Degree of Discipline Originally Imposed in the Other Jurisdiction**

The District Court concluded that the reciprocal discipline rule permits a downward departure from the degree of discipline imposed, but that it neither contemplates nor permits a possible increase in the level of discipline. (Findings and Conclusions, R. 93; Transcript, R. 104:37) This is incorrect.

**A. The Rule Plainly Allows Departure from the Equivalent Discipline, and Does Not Limit the Departure to Discipline Less Severe**

The reciprocal discipline rule is found among the Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability ("RLDD"). See Rule 22, RLDD. For purposes of disciplinary proceedings in Utah, "a final adjudication of the other court . . . that a

respondent has been guilty of misconduct shall establish conclusively the misconduct." Rule 22(e), RLDD.

The rule provides that "equivalent discipline shall be imposed" unless the record in the other jurisdiction's case plainly shows (1) that the respondent was deprived of due process; (2) "the imposition of equivalent discipline would result in grave injustice;" or (3) "the misconduct established warrants substantially different discipline in this state or is not misconduct in this jurisdiction." Rule 22(d), RLDD. This subsection further provides that "If the district court determines that any of these elements exist, it shall enter such other order as it deems appropriate. The burden is on the respondent to demonstrate that the imposition of equivalent discipline is not appropriate." *Id.*

The District Court interpreted this portion of the subsection incorrectly, concluding that although it has the authority to lessen the severity of the sanction, it cannot increase the sanction even if the application of Utah's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions ("Standards") and recent case law interpreting the Standards would result in a more severe sanction in Utah had the disciplinary case been brought here first. (R. 93) In other words, the upper limit of possible sanctions is set by what was imposed in the original disciplinary jurisdiction, regardless of what is imposed in Utah for the same misconduct.

This runs contrary to a plain reading of the rule. Equivalent discipline must be imposed with few exceptions, but one of those exceptions is when the respondent's misconduct "warrants substantially different discipline" in Utah. The word "different" simply means "unlike." The phrase "different discipline"

encompasses discipline of either greater or lesser severity; it is not limited to one or the other.

**B. The OPC's Reading of the Rule Makes Sense In the Context of the RLDD and the Standards as a Dynamic Whole**

The RLDD require the OPC to "perform all prosecutorial functions." Rule 4(b), RLDD. This includes the duty to "[s]eek reciprocal discipline where appropriate when informed of any disbarment or suspension or public discipline imposed by another court, another jurisdiction, or a regulatory body having disciplinary jurisdiction." *Id.* at 4(b)(9). Significantly, the rule does not say "seek identical or lesser reciprocal discipline." *See id.* The procedures for seeking reciprocal discipline are set forth elsewhere in the RLDD. *See* Rule 22, RLDD.

The reciprocal discipline rule provides that upon notification that a Utah-licensed attorney has been disciplined elsewhere, the OPC shall obtain a copy of the disciplinary order. *See* Rule 22(a). Thereafter, "OPC counsel shall forthwith issue a notice to the lawyer . . . ." *Id.* at 22(b). The notice gives the attorney "the right to inform OPC counsel . . . of any claim by the lawyer predicated upon the grounds set forth in paragraph (d), that the imposition of the equivalent discipline in this state would be unwarranted and stating the reasons for that claim." *Id.* at 22(b)(2).

The rule articulates no explicit direction concerning the procedure for moving the case forward. That it is the OPC's duty to do so is set forth as described in Rule 4; that the forum for doing so is the District Court is implicit in Rule 22, which provides that with some exceptions, "[u]pon the expiration of 30 days from service of the notice [upon the attorney], the district court shall take

such action as may be appropriate to cause the equivalent discipline to be imposed in this jurisdiction . . . .” Rule 22(d), RLDD.

There is no procedure for seeking separate Utah discipline of a Utah-licensed attorney who has been disciplined in another state. In other words, the OPC cannot initiate an independent investigation and proceeding based upon the same facts, present it to a Screening Panel, and file a formal complaint in District Court. Instead, it brings a reciprocal discipline action in which “a final adjudication of the other court, jurisdiction or regulatory body that a respondent has been guilty of misconduct shall establish conclusively the misconduct for purposes of a disciplinary proceeding in this state.” Rule 22(e), RLDD. This is consistent with the RLDD’s statement that “These rules shall be construed so as to achieve substantial justness and fairness in disciplinary matters with dispatch and at the least expense to all concerned parties.” Rule 1(c), RLDD.

Although the respondent and the OPC are limited to the other court’s adjudication of the misconduct except for purposes of establishing one of the exceptions identified in subsection (d), neither side is limited to the sanction imposed in the other court. This is why the rule provides that equivalent discipline shall be imposed “unless it clearly appears upon the face of the record from which the discipline is predicated that: . . . the misconduct established warrants substantially different discipline in the state or is not misconduct in this jurisdiction.” Rule 22(d)(3). Put another way, although judicial determinations of misconduct are given conclusive effect, the District Court may independently

evaluate the facts and determine the appropriate disciplinary action to be taken in Utah.

Although the District Court makes its determination concerning what discipline to impose based upon “the face of the record,” if it determines that “any of these elements exist, it shall enter such other order as it deems appropriate.” Rule 22(d) and (e), RLDD. The court is thus free to depart from strictly equivalent discipline.

Grounds for discipline include a lawyer “be[ing] publicly disciplined in another jurisdiction.” Rule 9(c), RLDD. The RLDD further provide that imposition of sanctions is governed by the Standards. See Rule 12, RLDD. They do not provide that for purposes of reciprocal discipline, the imposition of sanctions is governed or limited by the sanction imposed in the other jurisdiction.

Turning to the Standards, “[r]eciprocal discipline is the imposition of a disciplinary sanction on a lawyer who has been disciplined in another court, another jurisdiction, or a regulatory body having disciplinary jurisdiction.” Rule 2.10, Standards. The rule does not limit reciprocal discipline to equivalent or lesser discipline; instead, it encompasses identical discipline or discipline imposed upon the basis of the foreign discipline but with a different sanction—either more or less severe. See id.

Limiting reciprocal discipline to the same or less severe sanction imposed in the other jurisdiction would result in manifest unfairness to respondents disciplined in Utah for similar conduct. Indeed, the Standards were designed to promote “consistency in the imposition of disciplinary sanctions for the same or



similar offenses within and among jurisdictions.” Rule 1.3, Standards. Permitting the District Court to depart from the equivalent sanction only to reduce the degree of sanction is tantamount to saying that a lawyer can avoid the sanction ordinarily imposed on his or her colleagues for identical misconduct so long as the lawyer is disciplined elsewhere first. This is unfair, and inconsistent with construction of the RLDD “so as to achieve substantial justice and fairness in disciplinary matters with dispatch and at the least expense to all concerned parties.” Rule 1(c), RLDD.

Moreover, the OPC’s prosecutorial role would be rendered meaningless in reciprocal discipline cases if it could not offer its perspective and guidance to the District Court concerning whether the lawyer’s misconduct “warrants substantially different discipline in Utah or is not misconduct in this jurisdiction.” Rule 22(d)(3). If that were the drafters’ or this Court’s intent, the OPC’s role would have been expressly limited.

**C. Other Jurisdictions Interpret Their Reciprocal Discipline Rules to Permit an Increase in Discipline**

Courts in other jurisdictions interpreting reciprocal discipline rules have concluded that courts may increase the sanction imposed in the first jurisdiction if a more severe sanction is warranted in the second jurisdiction. Although other examples will be noted later, this Brief focuses on the District of Columbia because it is a jurisdiction where reciprocal discipline is imposed more frequently than in any other. See In re Zdravkovich, 2003 D.C. LEXIS 548 at 7 (Sept. 11, 2003) (reciprocal discipline cases are significant percentage of disciplinary actions in the District of Columbia; the total number “dwarfs” the number in other

jurisdictions). Accordingly, the body of case law interpreting the District of Columbia's reciprocal discipline rules is well developed and may be of some use here notwithstanding that the disciplinary structure and the applicable rules differ in the respects noted herein. In the District of Columbia, disciplinary cases are conducted by the Board on Professional Responsibility, which makes findings and conclusions and recommendations of discipline to the Court of Appeals of the District of Columbia. Participants in the proceedings are the respondent and the Office of Bar Counsel.

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