2003

In the Matter of the Discipline of H. Delbert Welker, #3418, Respondent : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The only authority of the OPC to sanction wrongful conduct of a lawyer that takes place in another jurisdiction is found in Rule 22 (d) Rules of Lawyer Discipline and Disability (“RLDD”). Said rule warrants equivalent discipline in Utah unless the lawyer can show an exception to equivalent discipline. The burden is on the lawyer to show one of the stated exceptions. The district court has followed the rule and ordered equivalent discipline in Utah. The OPC is seeking a more severe penalty (disbarment) in Utah notwithstanding the notice requirements and due process considerations clearly stated in Rule 22. There has never been a case in Utah wherein the OPC or any of the Utah courts have imposed a more severe penalty than equivalent discipline in a reciprocal discipline matter.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Imposed Equivalent Discipline in Utah for the Acts that Occurred in California

Rule 22(d) RLDD was interpreted by the district court to mean that the court could order equivalent discipline to that which was ordered by the California Supreme Court. However, the respondent has a burden show that if something other than equivalent discipline is appropriate, the penalty could be less harsh (R. 104, page 29 of the transcript). Rule 22(d) states:

“the district court shall take such action as may be appropriate to cause the equivalent discipline to be imposed in this jurisdiction, unless it clearly appears upon the face of the record from which the discipline is predicated that:

- (1) the procedure was so lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard as to constitute a deprivation of due process;
- (2) the imposition of equivalent discipline would result in grave injustice; or
- (3) the misconduct established warrants substantially different discipline in the state or is not misconduct in this jurisdiction. If the district court determines that any of these elements exist, it shall enter such other order as it deems appropriate.

The burden is on the respondent to demonstrate that the imposition of equivalent discipline is not appropriate.”

Since the respondent was unable to show the court any exception under the rule, the district court ruled that equivalent discipline should be ordered (Transcript, R.104, page 29). Since no Utah case law defines equivalent discipline, a definition is stated in The American Heritage Dictionary that the meaning of equivalent is “equal, as in value, force, or meaning. Having similar or identical effects. Being essentially equal, all things considered.” The clearest meaning of equivalent discipline in Utah would be the same eighteen months of actual suspension imposed in California with the other provisions of classes and testing. The district ordered an eighteen month suspension with six months of credit during the time respondent’s license was suspended or inactive in both states at the same time. Rule 22 was properly interpreted by the court.

II. Imposition of More Severe Discipline From Equivalent Discipline Results in a Deprivation of Due Process

The safe guards and fair play provisions of Rule 22(d)(1) “the procedure was so lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard as to constitute a deprivation of due process,” protects the lawyer in other jurisdictions but not in Utah according to the OPC’s position. No lawyer in the State of Utah has ever received a more severe penalty in Utah than he or she received in another jurisdiction. This is because the rule does not provide for a more harsh penalty.

Appellant’s brief correctly points out that other jurisdictions (not all) allow more severe sanctions in a reciprocal process than the original jurisdiction. The District of Columbia imposes reciprocal discipline more frequently than any other jurisdiction. However, if a more severe penalty than identical discipline is recommended, a

hearing de novo must be allowed for the lawyer to defend himself or herself. Appellant's brief states that, ("As noted above, Utah's reciprocal discipline rule does not provide this option," appellant's brief, page 20 footnote 4).

Appellant's brief cites the Colorado procedure for reciprocal discipline. A six month suspension that was ordered in New Mexico was ruled to be a disbarment in Colorado. However, the lawyer was given notice pursuant to Colorado rules that the regulatory body give the respondent notice of any claim that substantially different discipline was warranted, and with notice, respondent could present additional evidence. Utah has no such provision.

It is not unusual and in fact quite common that a stipulation of the facts to resolve any legal matter to summarily resolve litigation will conform to the elements of a law, crime, or rule as much as to the actual facts. Appellee's stipulation of the facts in California conformed to the charges brought by the California Bar. However, another set of facts that are somewhat different are contained in the briefs filed by appellee at the district court hearing (Affidavit of Respondent in Support of Memorandum, R. 50-53 and Affidavit of Respondent in Support of Reply Memorandum, R. 74-78). If the Utah rule provided either notice of more severe discipline as does Colorado or a de novo action as does the District of Columbia there would be different set of facts in the record for this court to review.

The stipulated facts in the record from California does not contain some of the concerns the court had about the hardship of the client, hardship of the medical provider, the attorney's emotional or personal problems, whether the wrongful conduct was intentional or negligent or a showing of how the public could be affected, In re

Babilis, 951 P. 2d 207 (Utah 1997) and In re Ennega, 37P. 3d 1150 (Utah 2003).

CONCLUSION

Rule 22 RLDD is the reciprocal authority to discipline lawyers in Utah who have been disciplined in other states. The district court correctly ordered equivalent discipline to be carried out in Utah for conduct in California. It is not the intent of the rule to allow anything other equivalent discipline or less (the burden to be on the lawyer). If that were not the case, provisions such as Rule 22 (d)(1) requiring due process safeguards in other states would also be mandated in Utah to preserve due process proceedings for lawyers in reciprocal matters.